RECEIVED

MAR 3 1 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Thomas G. Cooper, Jr.

Case No.: 2009-GS-28-1164; 1171
Appellate Case No.: 2012-212391

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

vs.

Donnie Thigpen, Jr..

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TOMMY A. THOMAS
Bar No.: 005536
Post Office Box 88
Irmo, SC 29063
(803) 732-5507

ATTORNEY FOR
APPELLANT

CHRISTINA CATOE
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY ALLOWED THE INTRODUCTION OF EVIDENCE AND TESTIMONY OF THE DATAMASTER PROCESS AND VIDEO AFTER FINDING THAT THE TEST WAS GIVEN BEYOND THE STATUTORY TWO (2) HOUR LIMITATION.**

- II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY DENIED DEFENSE COUNSEL'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE STATEMENT MADE BY THE APPELLANT.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 20, 2009, the Appellant was charged with the offenses of Felony DUI - Death (Indictment No.: 2009-GS-28-1164), Leaving the Scene – Death (Indictment No.: 2009-GS-28-1171 and Failure to Render Aid – Death, (Ticket No.:D881819 – Dismissed Not Indicted).

A jury was empanelled and the Appellant was tried by Jury on March 19-23, 2012 before the Honorable Thomas G. Cooper, Jr. The Appellant was represented by Alex Postic and Derek Chiarenza, Attorneys at Law. The State was represented by Brett Perry and Ron Moak, Deputy Solicitors.

The Appellant was found guilty of Leaving the Scene of an accident Death and Felony DUI – Death. He was sentenced to ten (10) years on each count to run concurrent. He was also Ordered to pay a fine in the amount of \$10,000.00.

The Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal. This initial brief follows:

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the early morning of June 20, 2009, a 1997 blue Jeep Cherokee was found in the brush off of Twenty-Five Mile Creek Road in Kershaw County. The vehicle was registered to the Appellant, Donnie Thigpen, Jr. The investigation of the Midlands M.A.I.T. team of the South Carolina Highway Patrol found that the vehicle had crossed the center line of the roadway and ran off the left side of the road hitting a tree. The vehicle came to rest upside down. The passenger side of the vehicle was severely damaged. The passenger of the vehicle was found deceased still buckled in his seat belt. The driver of the Jeep was not found at the scene.

Upon determining the registered owner of the vehicle the police went to the Appellant's house located approximately a quarter of a mile from the scene of the accident. Testimony was given by the arresting officers that upon arrival at the Appellant's home they spoke with the Appellant. He appeared to be intoxicated. The officers observed fine glass shards in his beard and hair. He also had a cut above his eye and appeared to have bruises on his body. Based upon their observations, he was placed under arrest and was read his Miranda rights at that time.

He was initially taken to the scene of the accident. In an attempt to remove what the officer thought was a blue paint chip lodged in his ear. After an unsuccessful attempt to gather the chip he was taken to the hospital for a blood draw and urine sample. The Blood was collected at 12:40 p.m. (ROA. p. 336, lines 11-12) From there he was taken to the Kershaw County Detention Center.

Upon arrival at the Detention Center the Appellant was take to the DataMaster Room and a video recording was begun of this proceeding (ROA. p. 336, line 13-17). This video was admitted into evidence with objection. (ROA. p. 337, lines 1-9) Testimony was presented by the DataMaster operator. The office was asked if the test was performed within two hours of the

arrest at 11:29 the morning of June 20, 2009. The officer testified that it was over the two hour period. The time of the DataMaster test was 1:42 p.m. The blood draw was within two (2) hours of the arrest. (ROA. p. 339, lines 14-23)

Later that afternoon, at approximately 5:20 p.m. the Appellant was questioned by law enforcement officers. The Appellant was again given his Miranda rights. This interview was audio recorded and during this process Law enforcement asserts that the Appellant admitted to driving the car. This audio recording was played for the jury. (ROA 434, lines 1-13)

Members of the M.A.I.T. and other Law enforcement officers testified regarding reconstruction of the accident and that certain blood and DNA evidence was collected. DNA evidence was compared to a sample taken from the Applicant. A DNA profile was suitable for interpretation on three items of evidence. A cutting from the fabric headlines of the Jeep, back of the driver side air bag and from the front of the driver's side air bag. (ROA p. 551, lines 10-19)

The sample from the headliner and from the back of the driver side air bag matched the Appellant. The sample from the front of the airbag was from an unidentified male. (ROA p. 551, lines 20-25)

Testimony was presented by Defense witnesses that the Appellant was not driving the vehicle on the night in question. That his bruises and cuts came from a fight at a local bar and that the Appellant had a habit of lending out his car or giving the keys to someone else if he had too much to drink.

The Appellant testified at the trial (ROA p. 764). The Appellant stated that he wanted to drive his vehicle from the bar, Trackside, but was prevented from doing so. That the Victim

drove him to his house and wanted to borrow his car. With Appellants permission the victim left with his car. The Appellant testified that he had no personal knowledge of what happened at the incident.

After closing arguments, the Judge charged the Jury in part regarding the statement made by the Appellant and the inference of under the influence by the use of chemical analysis of Appellant's blood

No exception was taken to the charge. The Jury began their deliberations at 1:03 p.m. A verdict was returned at 2:58 p.m.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY ALLOWED THE INTRODUCTION OF EVIDENCE AND TESTIMONY OF THE DATAMASTER PROCESS AND VIDEO AFTER FINDING THAT THE TEST WAS GIVEN BEYOND THE STATUTORY TWO (2) HOUR LIMITATION.

The Appellant was arrested at 11:29 a.m. Blood was drawn at 12:40 p.m. (ROA p. 336, lines 11-12) and a breath sample was taken at 1:42 p.m. (ROA p. 339, lines 17-19) The DataMaster reading was .19. (ROA p. 78, lines 16-17)

Pre-trial objection was made by Defense Counsel to Suppress the DataMaster reading. (ROA p. 72, lines 15-19) The Basis of the Motion was that §56-5-2946 South Carolina code of Laws, as amended, states that the sample must be taken within two hours of the arrest. In this case the sample was taken two hours and thirty six minutes after arrest. (ROA p. 73, lines 4-10) Counsel argued that the reading should be suppressed pursuant to §56-5-2950 and §56-5-2946 (ROA p. 73).

The State responded that pursuant to §56-5-2946 and §56-5-2950 when the Appellant was charged with Felony DUI, he had no option but to submit to the blood draw (ROA p. 80, lines 16-22). The State conceded that the DataMaster test was outside of the two hour window as prescribed by law.

However, the State argued that even if the DataMaster result is not admitted for the purpose of the issue of under the influence, that they were entitled to use it as part of the toxicologist hypothesis that the Appellant's blood alcohol was in the process of being eliminated and that the DataMaster video itself was admissible even if the results were suppressed (ROA p. 78, lines 15-16).

The Court relies upon the cases of State v. Long, 363 S.C. 360, 363, 610 S.E.2d 809, 811 (2005) and State v. Cuevas, 365 S.C. 198, 616 S.E.2d 718 (Ct. App. 2005) in its analysis of Defense Counsel's objection. The Court concludes:

“Now, although the court in Long and Cuevas doesn't say specifically that it incorporates the two hour requirement and the three hour requirement, it does say that the technical provisions of 2950 are applicable to 2946, so by the language of Long, Section 56-5-2950 prescribes the technical testing requirements, and incorporates and says that law enforcement must follow the guidelines of 2950 (A), which is the two hour --- amount other things, among other things, is the two hour requirement.”

“So I think because this breath test was taken in excess of the two hour requirement that the breath test reading, DataMaster reading, would not be admissible.” (ROA p. 154, lines 3-16)

The Court grants the Motion to Suppress the evidence of the DataMaster reading. (ROA. p. 155, lines 20-23). The Court further finds that if the State is going to use the DataMaster video, then the State is going to have to either redact it or stop it prior to evidence of the Appellant's blood level. In regards to the testimony of the toxicologist testimony, the court rules

that the State can say that a test was given and can say that the level was less than the blood alcohol but cannot use the suppressed amount. (ROA p. 156, lines 20-23)

Upon arrival at the Kershaw County Detention Center, the Appellant was taken into the DataMaster Room. (ROA. p. 336, line 17) Counsel again made objection to DataMaster evidence being introduced and it was admitted over objection. (ROA. p. 337, lines 1-3) The video was played to the Jury. (ROA p. 337, lines 18-19)

The complete process of giving a breath test was explained to the Jury as well as the conduct and appearance of the Appellant. (ROA pp. 339-342). Additional testimony was given about his statement that someone took his car on a joy ride and that he was running his fingers through his hair. The Officer makes reference to a blue paint chip noticed in his ear and alluding to the glass shards found in his hair earlier. (ROA pp. 340-341)

Generally the admission or exclusion of evidence in general is within the sound discretion of the Trial Court Fields v. Regional Medical Center of Orangeburg, 363 SC 19, 609 SE2d 506 (2005). In this case the Court found that the results of the DataMaster should be excluded. But allowed testimony and evidence associated with the excluded test to be admitted. Including the video of the Appellant in the DataMaster Room. Given the testimony of the officers and DataMaster reading the Appellant was obviously intoxicated. That error allowed the State to back door the evidence they were prohibited from introducing given the Court's ruling.

In this case, the Judge's decision to allow the testimony and evidence (video) of the DataMaster process was clearly an error and produced prejudice to Appellant. This error would require a reversal of the Appellant's conviction.

II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY DENIED DEFENSE COUNSEL'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE STATEMENT MADE BY THE APPELLANT.

The Appellant made an incriminating statement after arrest in the afternoon of June 20, 2009. Defense counsel made a pre-trial Motion to Suppress the Appellant's oral statement. (ROA p. 85, lines 23-25)

The Appellant was arrested at his home and at that point is read his Miranda rights. He denied involvement in the accident. However, based upon his appearance, he is placed under arrest. He is allowed to make a phone call and is taken to the hospital to give a blood sample at 12:40 p.m. His blood alcohol registers .21. He is then transported to the Kershaw County Detention Center where he is given a breath test at 1:42 p.m. (ROA 339, lines 16-18) with a DataMaster reading of .19. He is booked into the Detention Center. Later that afternoon he gives a statement that is audio recorded. In this statement he implicates himself in the incident. (ROA. p. 87, lines 1-14) Although he was questioned about the incident in the DataMaster room. (ROA p. 87, lines 19-22) this is the only incriminating statement that he gives.

Just before the afternoon interrogation he is re-mirandized. At 6:00 p.m. the Appellant makes a statement confessing to driving and to leaving the scene. (ROA p. 88, lines 18-22)

At the initial arrest and reading of the Appellant's rights he had a blood alcohol level of almost .23. Defense counsel argued that the Appellant would be too intoxicated to understand his rights at that point, (ROA p. 89, line 4-9) the point of his initial arrest. Counsel further argues that the Appellant would have still been intoxicated at the time of the 4:20 p.m. interrogation to voluntarily give his statement to law enforcement. In

argument at trial, the State even opines that the Appellants blood alcohol level at the time of questioning could have been .10. (ROA p. 706, line 1-7)

A Jackson v. Denno hearing was held to determine the voluntariness of the confession. Testimony was given that upon arriving at the home of the Appellant and speaking with him, that he physically appeared intoxicated. (ROA. p. 94, lines 10-18)

That he was read his Miranda rights prior to being placed under arrest. (ROA p. 96, lines 19-21) At that point testimony was presented that the Appellant did not ask for an attorney and denied that he had any involvement in the incident. (ROA pp. 97-98) This was 11:29 a.m. (ROA p. 104, lines 6-10)

The Appellant was read his Miranda Rights for the second time before the interview the afternoon of the incident. This was between the hours of 5:20 p.m. and 6:40 p.m. (ROA p. 128, lines 22-25, p. 129, lines 1-10) Testimony was given by Officer Coats that:

“(He) ultimately admitted he was driving.

That he stated “I checked. He didn’t have a pulse.” And that “he took responsibility for what he had done that night”. (ROA p. 114, lines 1-10)

The Court rules that:

“Once Miranda rights are validly and voluntarily waived, the waiver continues until such time as the individual being questioned revokes the waiver or circumstances are such that his will is overborne and his capacity for self-determination is critically impaired.

So it’s ---the Miranda rights that are given continue throughout the interrogation. I don’t think --- I mean, I think that’s pretty well established law. You don’t have to give them over and over again during the course of an interrogation...” (ROA p. 136, lines 21-25, p. 137, lines 1-6)

The question presented is whether the Appellant's statement was made voluntarily even in the afternoon given his level of intoxication.

The objection to the introduction to the statement was made again during officer Borowski's testimony (ROA p. 322, lines 7-8) and During the testimony of Officer Coates (ROA. p. 429, line 19-22). The recording of the Appellant's interview was played for the Jury (ROA p. 434, lines 1-16).

The Appellant testified that during the afternoon interrogation that he didn't remember being read his rights (ROA p. 789, lines 21-23) That he "felt threatened. I was drunk, confused, scared." (ROA p. 790, lines 1-19) The Appellant stated he was told that he was driving the car and had killed his friend (ROA p. 790, lines 17-22) and that ultimately he had no memory of being in the vehicle. (ROA p. 790, lines 23-25 p. 791, lines 2-4-791)

Testimony of the State's witness, Robert Sears, forensic toxicologist, indicated that:

"Research that's being done in the field of alcohol toxicology has shown that everyone is impaired, that is their opportunity or ability to operate a motor vehicle is appreciably and materially impaired at levels exceeding .05." (ROA p. 676, lines 9-13)

If the Appellant's ability to drive was impaired at a blood alcohol level of .05, then surely his ability to make a voluntary statement would have been impaired with a blood alcohol level of around .10.

The process for determining whether a statement is voluntary, and thus admissible, is bifurcated: it involves determinations by both the Judge and the Jury. First, the trial Judge must conduct an evidentiary hearing, outside the presence of the Jury, where the State must show the confession was voluntarily made by a preponderance of the evidence.

Under Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 84 S.Ct. 1774, 12 L.Ed.2d 908, a defendant is entitled to a “reliable determination as to the voluntariness of his confession by a tribunal other than the Jury charged with deciding his guilt or innocence.

The State bears the burden of showing the confession was voluntary. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 243, 471 S.E. 2d 695.

During the Jackson v. Denno hearing, the trial Judge must examine the totality of the circumstances surrounding the confession and determine whether the State has carried its burden of showing the confession was voluntarily made.

Once the trial Judge determines that the confession is admissible, it is up to the Jury to ultimately determine whether the confession was voluntarily made.

In the Court’s charge to the Jury, the Judge addresses the issue of the statement. He charges that he has determined that the statement was admissible but instructs the Jury that they must make the ultimate decision of whether or not the Appellant made the statement (ROA p. 927, line 13-23).

The voluntariness of a confession is determined from an examination of the totality of the circumstances. Von Dohlen. The totality of the circumstances in this case show that he was intoxicated at the time of the statement. The statement was not voluntarily given, nor were his rights voluntarily waived.

That the Court abused its discretion in allowing the introduction of the statement.

That the Appellant’s conviction should be reversed.