ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Kershaw County
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-212391

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DONNIE THIGPEN, JR.,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA J. CATOE
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

MAR 08 2012

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Kershaw County
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-212391

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

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

Relevant Facts

Appellant was arrested at 11:29 am on June 20, 2009. (R. p. 334, lines 21-25). Appellant's blood was collected at 12:40 pm that day. (R. p. 335, lines 1-7). The subsequent blood test indicated that Appellant's blood alcohol concentration was .218. (R. p. 671). Officers commenced the twenty-minute waiting period for a Datamaster breath test at 1:42 pm, and the test was completed at 2:05 pm. (R. p. 106-107; p. 338-39). The Datamaster test result revealed a blood alcohol concentration of .19. (R. p. 78, lines 16-17).

Prior to commencement of trial, defense counsel made a motion to suppress the Datamaster breath test results because the test was completed more than two hours after Appellant's arrest in violation of S.C. Code § 56-5-2950. (R. p. 72, line 17 – p. 73, line 10). However, defense counsel's motion to suppress was limited to the test results; in fact, he specifically stated he was objecting only to the Datamaster "reading," and was not objecting to the Datamaster video. (See R. p. 72-83; see p. 81, lines 10-12; see also p. 134, lines 20-22). The trial judge later issued a ruling granting defense counsel's motion to suppress the test result, but he agreed the State could use the video as long as it was

redacted or stopped before the test result was revealed. (R. p. 154-56). The trial judge also stated that the State would be permitted to ask the toxicology expert a hypothetical question including facts that a Datamaster test is given to a person and the resulting blood alcohol level is less than the person's blood alcohol level indicated by a blood test. (R. p. 156, lines 18-24). Defense counsel had no objections. (R. p. 156-57). When the State introduced the Datamaster video into evidence, defense counsel indicated that he did not object as long as the video was in redacted form. (R. p. 336, line 23 – p. 337, line 9). Counsel also did not object to any of the subsequent testimony regarding the Datamaster process and did not object to the hypothetical question posed to the toxicology expert. (R. p. 337-42; p. 375-76; p. 679-80).

Issue Preservation

Appellant now argues that the trial judge improperly allowed the introduction of evidence and testimony regarding the Datamaster process after finding that the Datamaster test was given to Appellant outside of the two-hour time frame prescribed by S.C. Code § 56-5-2950. However, as illustrated by the facts set forth above, this issue is not preserved for appellate review because below, Appellant challenged only the admission of the Datamaster test result and did not challenge the admission of the related evidence. Indeed, defense counsel specifically stated he was not objecting to the Datamaster video, and he never objected to any other Datamaster-related evidence. Accordingly, the issue raised on appeal is not preserved for review. See, e.g., State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 157, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 (2000), *cert. denied*, 530 U.S. 1209 (2000) (holding that an issue is not preserved for appellate consideration where the appellant conceded the issue at trial); State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760,

767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”); State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995) (a party cannot argue one ground for an objection at trial and an alternative ground on appeal); I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (a losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred; imposing preservation requirements on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments; when appellant’s contentions are not presented to or passed upon by the trial judge, such contentions will not be considered on appeal). Based upon the foregoing, the issue should be dismissed on error preservation grounds.

Discussion

Assuming the issue was properly preserved, the trial judge did not err by allowing the Datamaster video and other related evidence into evidence. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950 (A) states, in pertinent part, as follows: “A breath sample taken for testing must be collected within two hours of the arrest.” Section (J) of that statute states, in pertinent part, that “[t]he failure to follow any of [the SLED] policies, procedures, and regulations, or the provisions of this section, shall result in the exclusion from evidence of any test results, if the trial judge or hearing officer finds that this failure materially affected the accuracy or reliability of the test results or the fairness of the testing procedure and the court trial judge or hearing officer rules specifically as to the manner in which the failure materially affected the accuracy or reliability of the test results or the fairness of the procedure.” S.C. Code § 56-5-2950 (J).

Initially, it is the State's position that the Datamaster test – commenced only thirteen minutes after the two hour time period elapsed – was in fact admissible because there is nothing to indicate that the failure to follow the two-hour rule “materially affected the accuracy or reliability of the test results or the fairness of the testing procedure.”² S.C. Code § 56-5-2950 (J).

Regardless, the statute is clear that only the “test results” are to be excluded if the judge finds a violation of section (A) of the statute. S.C. Code § 56-5-2950 (J). See, e.g., State v. Frey, 362 S.C. 511, 516, 608 S.E.2d 874, 877 (Ct. App. 2005) (“With any question regarding statutory construction and application, the court must always look first to the legislative intent as determined from the plain language of the statute.”) (citations omitted); State v. Scott, 351 S.C. 584, 588, 571 S.E.2d 700, 702 (2000) (the text of a statute provides the best evidence of the legislative intent or will; if a statute's language is “plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning,” statutory construction rules are not needed and a court has no right to impose a different meaning) (citations omitted). The language of the statute indicates that the legislature's primary concern was that a Datamaster test administered too long after the arrest could, under certain circumstances, compromise the accuracy and reliability of the test results. See S.C. Code 56-5-2950 (A) & (J); cf. State v. Frey, 362 S.C. 511, 518, 608 S.E.2d 874, 878 (Ct. App. 2005) (pointing out that the statutory mandate requiring that a blood sample be obtained by a trained medical professional is “inextricably connected to the accuracy and reliability of the

² The solicitor started to make this argument below; however, inasmuch as the State also had Appellant's blood test result, he did not press the issue. (R. p. 83, lines 10-14; see also p. 72-83; p. 153-57). The judge did not ultimately make a ruling in this regard as he was required to do before ruling the test result inadmissible. (See R. p. 153-57). See S.C. Code § 56-5-2950 (J) (the failure to follow the provisions of the statute “shall result in the exclusion from evidence of any test results, *if* the trial judge or hearing officer finds that this failure materially affected the accuracy or reliability of the test results or the fairness of the testing procedure *and* the court trial judge or hearing officer *rules specifically* as to the manner in which the failure materially affected the accuracy or reliability of the test results or the fairness of the procedure”).

blood test results”). However, this concern is not implicated by admission of other evidence relating to the Datamaster testing, such as the video of the test, which may contain highly relevant evidence including statements made by the suspect. Significantly, Appellant cites no authority in support of his position that the statute requires exclusion of something more than just the test result. In the State’s view, if the legislature had intended that the Datamaster video and any other related evidence also be excluded, it would have said so plainly in the statute. Accordingly, we submit the trial judge committed no error by permitting the introduction of the Datamaster video and related testimony.

Lack of Prejudice to Appellant

Even assuming the trial judge committed error, the error could not have prejudiced Appellant under the circumstances of this case. First, Appellant’s blood was taken at 12:40 pm on the same day as the Datamaster test, and the test result of .218 was properly admitted - without objection - at trial. (See R. p. 80, lines 10-11; p. 335, lines 1-7; p. 658-59; p. 670-71). Second, Appellant admitted from the beginning of trial that he was under the influence of alcohol and had a “high blood alcohol” on the night in question. (R. p. 199, lines 18-24). During the defense case, Appellant testified that he got “drunk” that night after drinking nine drinks at two bars plus several more drinks at another bar. (R. p. 773-76; p. 818-19). Appellant’s other witnesses corroborated that he was intoxicated that night. (See R. p. 717-21; p. 731-34; p. 739-42; p. 760-63). Indeed, Appellant’s defense was not that he was unimpaired that night; instead, his defense was that he was not driving the vehicle at the time of the collision. (See R. p. 199-200; p. 779-81; p. 888-93).

Appellant contends in his brief that he was prejudiced by the allegedly erroneous admission of the Datamaster testimony because it revealed he was “obviously intoxicated.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 9). However, because there was there was absolutely overwhelming evidence - from both the State and the defense - that Appellant was intoxicated that night, Appellant could not possibly have suffered prejudice from the admission of the challenged evidence. (See R. p. 80, lines 10-11; p. 199, lines 18-24; p. 214; p. 289; p. 322; p. 329-33; p. 335, lines 1-7; p. 451; p. 658-59; p. 670-71; p. 717-21; p. 731-34; p. 739-42; p. 760-63; 773-76; p. 818-19). See State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (reversal is not required unless appellant is prejudiced by the error); State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991) (appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result); State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 498-99, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989) (“The admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”). Therefore, Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

II. Appellant’s issue regarding the voluntariness of his confession is not preserved for appellate review where Appellant made a different argument for suppression below. In any event, the trial judge properly admitted Appellant’s confession, which was made around 6:00 pm, where the evidence reflected that, although Appellant had become intoxicated the night before, he had stopped drinking in the early morning hours, and where the officers’ testimony and the audio recording of Appellant’s statement indicated that Appellant had sobered up significantly and that he understood his rights and gave his statement freely and voluntarily.

Relevant Facts

Prior to trial, defense counsel requested a Jackson v. Denno hearing, arguing that the statement Appellant gave during the 5:20 pm interview was involuntary because the Miranda rights that Appellant was given immediately prior to that interview were

incomplete in that they failed to include a statement advising Appellant that he could stop the questioning at any time. (See R. p. 85, line 23 – p. 91, line 8). Counsel contended that this omission violated State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 479 S.E.2d 838 (Ct. App. 1996), *aff'd as modified*, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998).³ Defense counsel asserted that, at the time the first Miranda warnings were given around 11:30 am, Appellant was too intoxicated to understand his rights; however, he acknowledged that “there are a lot of cases that say that the defendant must be almost knocked out to give an involuntary statement.” (R. p. 89, lines 1-20). Therefore, he argued, the initial Miranda warnings could not control, and the subsequent, allegedly deficient Miranda warnings given before the 5:20 pm interview, were not sufficient to inform Appellant that he could stop the questioning at any time. (R. p. 88-90). Defense counsel acknowledged that there were no promises or threats made to Appellant. (R. p. 90, lines 12-17).

The following facts were developed through the State’s witnesses at the pre-trial Jackson v. Denno hearing. Officers arrived at Appellant’s house between 11:00 am and 12:00 pm on June 20, 2009, to investigate the collision. (R. p. 93-95; p. 104). Appellant had the odor of alcoholic beverage about his person and appeared to be intoxicated. (R. p. 94, lines 12-18). Officer Slaten read Appellant his Miranda rights on the porch before speaking with him. (R. p. 94-95). Appellant said he understood his rights, did not appear confused, and the police did not threaten or coerce him. (R. p. 95-97; p. 130). Appellant agreed to talk to police and he denied any involvement in the collision. (R. p. 98; p. 130).

³ Notably, the South Carolina Supreme Court rejected such an argument in State v. Cannon, 260 S.C. 537, 543, 197 S.E.2d 678, 680 (1973), and the South Carolina Court of Appeals more recently rejected such an argument in State v. Hoyle, 397 S.C. 622, 725 S.E.2d 720 (Ct. App. 2012).

After determining that there was probable cause to arrest Appellant for felony DUI, Trooper McKenzie took Appellant into custody and placed him in his patrol car. (R. p. 102). The trooper Mirandized Appellant again in the patrol car. (R. p. 102-103). Trooper McKenzie stated that Appellant appeared to be under the influence when he spoke to him. (R. p. 105, lines 2-6). Appellant continued to deny any involvement in the collision. (R. p. 105, lines 10-14).

Sergeant Coats, a member of the M.A.I.T. team, was called out to investigate the collision that day. (R. p. 109). After visiting the scene, he went to the jail to interview Appellant. (R. p. 110). Sergeant Coats issued Appellant his Miranda warnings before beginning the interview. (R. p. 110-11). The entire interview, which began at 5:20 pm and lasted approximately one hour and twenty minutes, was audio recorded. (R. p. 110-11; p. 113). Sergeant Borowski, who was also present at the interview, testified that, although he had observed Appellant in an intoxicated state before noon that day, Appellant had “sobered up a lot” by the time of the 5:20 pm interview. (R. p. 127-28; p. 131, lines 7-8). He testified that Appellant had a “pretty good improvement” to his condition by that time. (R. p. 131, lines 5-7). Sergeant Borowski also testified that Appellant understood what was going on at the time of the interview. (R. p. 127-29). Sergeant Coats agreed, stating that Appellant was not threatened and that he had no reason to believe Appellant was not acting of his own free will and accord. (R. p. 114-15). Sergeant Coats also testified that Appellant could track the conversation they were having, was cognizant of what was going on, and understood everything that was said to him. (R. p. 116). Appellant provided rational answers to questions, made arguments on his own behalf, and made corrections if incorrect information was relayed to him. (R. p.

112; p. 116; p. 130). During the interview, Appellant provided an itinerary of his activities the night before the collision and ultimately admitted that he had been driving the car at the time of the collision. (R. p. 114). He stated that he checked for the victim's pulse after the collision and found none. (R. p. 114, lines 9-10). Appellant also stated that he "took full responsibility" for the collision. (R. p. 128, lines 19-21).

Following the pre-trial testimony of the four law enforcement officers, defense counsel stated he had no witnesses to present for the defense. (R. p. 133, lines 7-9). Counsel then reiterated his argument pursuant to State v. Kennedy. (See R. p. 133-35). As a part of this argument, he acknowledged that Appellant, at the time of the 5:20 pm interview, was "understanding, his composition steadily improved, pretty good improvement from the beginning to the confinement when he is giving his statement and when he is at the detention center." (R. p. 133, lines 13-16). Counsel argued that, since Appellant was "most cognizant of his rights" by the time of the 5:20 interview, he should have been given a complete Miranda warning. (R. p. 133, lines 17-22; p. 138-39). Defense counsel further acknowledged that the 5:20 interview was "clearly a different scenario" than the one earlier that day, and that it is clear that there is a "marked difference in the way [Appellant] speaks and the way he answers those officers" at the 5:20 interview. (R. p. 134, lines 8-11; p. 135, lines 6-11). Counsel also stated that Appellant's "blood alcohol has gone down" and that his "ability to comprehend has gone up." (R. p. 134, lines 14-15). Counsel also asserted that Appellant was promised leniency and help and told that he was facing up to fifty years in prison. (R. p. 135, lines 12-24).

The trial judge ultimately denied Appellant's motion to suppress, finding that the Miranda warnings given to Appellant before the 5:20 pm interview were appropriate. (See R. p. 136-46). Significantly, the trial judge pointed out that he had listened to the tape of Appellant's interview and did not find that Appellant's will was overborne or that his capacity for self-determination was critically impaired. (R. p. 137, lines 7-12). Subsequently, during trial, evidence regarding Appellant's confession, including the audiotape of the interview, was admitted over defense counsel's objection. (See R. p. 321-22; p. 428-30; p. 433-34). Following his motion for directed verdict, defense counsel "renewed" his motion to suppress the confession. (See R. p. 700-709). After some discussion, the trial judge again denied the motion, pointing out that the confession was already in evidence and before the jury. (R. p. 709, lines 8-17). The trial judge later revisited the issue during the jury charge conference and reaffirmed his prior ruling with respect to State v. Kennedy. (See R. p. 824-30).

Issue Preservation

Appellant argues on appeal that his confession in the 5:20 pm interview was not voluntary because the totality of the circumstances shows he was intoxicated at the time of the statement. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 11-13). This argument is not preserved for appellate review. Below, Appellant made an argument regarding State v. Kennedy and the insufficiency of the Miranda rights preceding the 5:20 pm interview. (See R. p. 85-91; p. 133-46). Appellant never argued that Appellant was too intoxicated to give a voluntary confession in the 5:20 pm interview. In fact, defense counsel effectively conceded that Appellant was sober enough to give a voluntary statement by that point. (See R. p. 89, lines 1-20; p. 133-34). Accordingly, the issue raised on appeal is not

properly before this Court. See State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 133-34, 546 S.E.2d 202, 205 (Ct. App. 2001) (appellant's argument that his statements were not trustworthy or reliable because he was highly intoxicated at the time they were made was not preserved for appellate review because appellant raised a different argument below and the issue on appeal was not raised to the trial judge); State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) ("Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial."); State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995) (a party cannot argue one ground for an objection at trial and an alternative ground on appeal); State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 157, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 (2000), *cert. denied*, 530 U.S. 1209 (2000) (holding that an issue is not preserved for appellate consideration where the appellant conceded the issue at trial); see also I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). Therefore, this issue should be dismissed on error preservation grounds.

Discussion

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